## EUROPEAN UNION and EUROPEAN ATOMIC ENERGY COMMUNITY (EURATOM)

EUR 80,000,000,000

Euro Medium Term Note Programme



Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Offering Circular (the "Programme"), each of the European Union (the "EU" or an "Issuer") and the European Atomic Energy Community ("Euratom" or an "Issuer" and, together with the EU, the "Issuers"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the "Notes"). The aggregate principal amount of the Notes issued by the Issuers and outstanding will not at any time exceed EUR 80,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies).

This Offering Circular (the "Offering Circular") shall supersede and replace all previous Offering Circulars and Supplements relating to the Programme.

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange (Bourse de Luxembourg) is a regulated market, within the meaning of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC). References in this Offering Circular to Notes being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and have been admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Each Tranche (as defined in "Issue of Notes" below) of Bearer Notes (as defined in "Overview of the Programme - Form of Notes" below) having an original maturity of more than one year will initially be represented by a temporary Global Note and each Tranche of Bearer Notes having an original maturity of one year or less will initially be represented by a permanent Global Note which, in each case, will: (i) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, as stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Banking SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"); and (ii) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, be deposited on the issue date either with a depositary or as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (see further "Summary of the Programme — Form of Notes" below). Interests in temporary Global Notes will be exchangeable for interests in permanent Global Notes or, if so stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, for definitive Bearer Notes after the date falling 40 days after the issue date upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (unless the applicable Pricing Supplement indicates that such Global Note is issued in a transaction to which TEFRA C applies, in which case no certification will be required) or for Registered Notes (as defined in "Overview of the Programme — Form of Notes" below) at any time after the issue date. Interests in permanent Global Notes will be exchangeable for definitive Bearer Notes or Registered Notes as described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form". Registered Notes will be represented by Note certificates (each a "Certificate") as described under "Overview of the Programme — Form of Notes" below.

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings applicable to the Programme. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Arranger

Goldman Sachs International

The date of this Offering Circular is 12 March 2015

## http://www.oblible.com

Each of the Issuers, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms in relation to itself that this document contains all information with respect to it and the Notes which is material in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, the statements contained in this document relating to it are in every material particular true and accurate and not misleading, there are no other facts in relation to it or the Notes the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, make any statement in this document misleading in any material respect and all reasonable enquiries have been made by it to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements. Each Issuer accepts responsibility accordingly.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Offering Circular in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuers or any of the Dealers (as defined in "Overview of the Programme — Dealers"). Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of either Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this document has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the affairs of either Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this document has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act") and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (see "Plan of Distribution").

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. The Issuers and the Dealers do not represent that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Pricing Supplement, no action has been taken by the Issuers or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, the United Kingdom and Japan, see "Plan of Distribution".

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuers or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

The Arranger and the Dealers have not independently verified the information contained in this Offering Circular. None of the Dealers or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Offering Circular. This Offering Circular is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuers, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Offering Circular should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Circular and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of either of the Issuers during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

- (i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;
- (ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

- (iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

In this Offering Circular, all references to "euro" and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) acting as stabilisation agent (the "Stabilisation Agent") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Agent(s)) in the applicable Pricing Supplement may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilisation Agent(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a Stabilisation Agent) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Agent(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Agent(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

#### **ISSUE OF NOTES**

Notes will be issued by each Issuer on a continuous basis in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest, the date from which interest starts to accrue and principal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set forth in a pricing supplement to this Offering Circular (a "Pricing Supplement"). Such Pricing Supplement will constitute final terms for the purpose of the Luxembourg Law dated July 10, 2005 (as amended) on Prospectus for Securities.

This Offering Circular should be read and construed in conjunction with any applicable Pricing Supplement.

## SUPPLEMENTAL OFFERING CIRCULAR

Each Issuer has given an undertaking to the Arranger and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange that, if at any time during the duration of the Programme, there is a significant change affecting any matter contained in this Offering Circular whose inclusion would reasonably be required by investors and their professional advisers, and would reasonably be expected by them to be found in this Offering Circular, for the purpose of making an informed assessment of the overall financial position of such Issuer and the rights attaching to the Notes, the Issuers shall prepare an amendment or supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a replacement Offering Circular for use in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange or otherwise and shall supply to each Dealer and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange such number of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange may reasonably require.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Page
Overview of the Programme	5
Risk Factors	8
Documents Incorporated by Reference	9
Pricing Supplement	10
Terms and Conditions of the Notes	17
Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form	32
Use of Proceeds	35
European Union	36
European Atomic Energy Community (EURATOM)	40
Plan of Distribution	42
General Information	44

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME**

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Offering Circular.

**Issuers:** European Union (the "EU")

European Atomic Energy Community — Euratom

Description: Continuously Offered Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the

"Programme")

Arranger: Goldman Sachs International

Dealers: The Issuers may from time to time appoint one or more dealers in

respect of a Tranche of Notes. References in this Offering Circular to "Dealer" or "Dealers" are to all persons appointed as a dealer in respect

of one or more Tranches.

**Fiscal Agent:** Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch **Registrar:** Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

Size: Up to EUR 80,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies at the

date of issue) aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at any

one time in respect of both Issuers.

Currencies: Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, any currency

agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Maturities: Such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant

Dealer, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or

the relevant Specified Currency.

**Denomination:** Definitive Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be such as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any

laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency.

Method of Issue: The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The

Notes will be issued in one or more Series (which may be issued on the same date or which may be issued in more than one Tranche on different dates). The Notes may be issued in Tranches on a continuous basis with no minimum issue size. Further Notes may be issued as part

of an existing Series.

Clearing Systems: In relation to any Tranche, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg,

and/or such other clearing system as may be agreed between the

relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer.

Form of Notes: The Notes may be issued in bearer form only ("Bearer Notes"), in bearer

form exchangeable for Registered Notes ("Exchangeable Bearer Notes") or in registered form only ("Registered Notes"). Notes issued in bearer form may also be issued in NGN form. Each Tranche of Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes having an initial maturity of more than one year will initially be represented by a temporary Global Note and each Tranche of Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes having an original maturity of one year or less will initially be represented by a permanent Global Note which, in each case, will: (i) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in NGN form, as stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream. Luxembourg; and (ii) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form be deposited (a) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and (b) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through any clearing system other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or delivered outside a clearing system, as agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer. No interest will be payable in respect of a temporary Global Note except as described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form". Interests in temporary Global Notes will be exchangeable for interests in permanent Global Notes or, if so stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, for definitive Bearer Notes after the date falling 40 days after the issue date upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (unless the applicable Pricing Supplement indicates that such Global Note is issued in a transaction to which TEFRA C applies, in which case no certification will be required) or (in the case of Exchangeable Bearer Notes) Certificates at any time after the issue date. Interests in permanent Global Notes will be exchangeable for definitive Bearer Notes or (in the case of Exchangeable Bearer Notes) Certificates as described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form". Registered Notes will be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series (subject to the provisions of the Agency Agreement (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below)). Registered Notes which are held in one or more clearing systems will be registered in the name of nominees or a common nominee (if the Registered Notes are not held under the New Safekeeping Structure "NSS") for such clearing systems or in the name of a nominee of a common safekeeper (if the Registered Notes are to be held under the NSS) for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and the relative Certificate(s) will be delivered to the appropriate depositary or a common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be. References in this Offering Circular to "Global Certificates" are to Certificates issued in respect of Registered Notes which are registered in the name of a nominee(s) for one or more clearing systems or in the name of a nominee of the common safekeeper, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

**Issue Price:** 

Notes may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount or premium to their principal amount. Partly-paid Notes may be issued, the Issue Price of which will be payable in two or more instalments.

**Fixed Interest Rate Notes:** 

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest set separately for each Series by reference to LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN, EURIBOR or EUR LIBOR (or such other benchmark as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) as adjusted for any applicable margin. Interest periods will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

**Zero Coupon Notes:** 

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment.

**Variable Coupon Amount Notes:** 

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of variable coupon amount Notes will specify the basis for calculating the amounts of interest payable, which may be by reference to an index or formula or as otherwise provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Interest Periods and Interest Rates:

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Variable Redemption Amount Notes:

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of variable redemption amount Notes will specify the basis for calculating the redemption amounts payable, which may be by reference to an index or formula or as otherwise provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Redemption by Instalments:

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes which are redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.

Other Notes: Terms applicable to high interest Notes, low interest Notes, step-up

Notes, step-down Notes, dual currency Notes, reverse dual currency Notes, optional dual currency Notes, partly-paid Notes and any other type of Note which the Issuer and any Dealer or Dealers may agree to issue under the Programme will be set out in the applicable Pricing

Supplement.

Optional Redemption: The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes will

state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the holders

and, if so, the terms applicable to such redemption.

Status of Notes: The Notes will constitute unsecured, direct, unconditional and general

obligations of the relevant Issuer all as described in "Terms and

Conditions of the Notes — Status".

**Negative Pledge:** The terms of the Notes will not contain a negative pledge provision.

Cross Default: The terms of the Notes will contain a cross default provision as further

described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Events of Default".

Withholding Tax: All payments under the Notes are subject in all cases to any applicable

fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives. No grossing-up provisions will apply in the event of any withholding or deduction from

such payments.

Consolidation: Notes of one Series issued by a relevant Issuer may be consolidated

with those of another Series issued by such Issuer, all as described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Further Issues and

Consolidation".

Governing Law: The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in

connection with the Notes will be governed by, and shall be construed in

accordance with, English law.

Jurisdiction: See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Governing Law and

Jurisdiction".

Listing: The Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes issued under the

Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or as otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. As specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, an unlisted Series of Notes or a Series of Notes not admitted to trading

on any market may be issued.

Risk Factors: There are certain risk factors relating to the Notes. These include

considerations relating to the development of a liquid secondary market

in the Notes of a particular Series.

**Selling Restrictions:** There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in the

United States, the United Kingdom and Japan (see further "Plan of

Distribution" below)

United States Selling Restrictions: Regulation S, Category 1. TEFRA C or D/TEFRA not applicable, as

specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement

## **RISK FACTORS**

Prospective investors should consider carefully the risks set forth below and the other information contained in this Offering Circular prior to making any investment decision with respect to the Notes. Some or all of the risks highlighted below could adversely affect the trading price of a particular Series of Notes or the rights of investors under a particular series of Notes and, as a result, investors could lose some or all of their investment.

#### General risk factors

Secondary market prices of bonds are affected by many factors, including prevailing interest rates and expectations thereof. Bonds - especially long-dated bonds - may therefore trade periodically at prices below their issue prices, implying a loss for bondholders who dispose of bonds prior to their stated maturity. In addition, bondholders may find it difficult to sell bonds prior to their stated maturity at a price that reflects the bondholder's opinion of the "fair value" of the bonds. They may find that no dealer, or only the dealer from whom they originally bought the bonds, is prepared to quote a price to buy bonds in the secondary market. This is likely to be the case to a greater extent for bonds with a relatively small aggregate outstanding amount.

## The credit rating of the Issuer may not reflect all risks affecting the Notes

The credit ratings assigned to the relevant Issuer may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes issued under the Programme. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the credit rating agency at any time.

## **DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE**

The following documents which have previously been published and have been filed with the Luxembourg Stock Exchange shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular:

• the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" section contained in previous Offering Circulars dated 20 December 2012, pages 19 – 36 (inclusive), 10 June 2010, pages 9-26 (inclusive), 18 February 2010, pages 8-24 (inclusive) and 9 December 2004, pages 8-25 (inclusive).

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular can be obtained from the registered office of the Issuers and from the specified office of the Paying Agents for the time being in London and Luxembourg and will also be published on the Luxembourg's Stock Exchange's website (<a href="www.bourse.lu">www.bourse.lu</a>).

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for an investor or are otherwise covered elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each tranche of Notes issued under the Programme.

## PRICING SUPPLEMENT

## EUROPEAN UNION and EUROPEAN ATOMIC ENERGY COMMUNITY - EURATOM EUR 80,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Notes

[EUROPEAN UNION/EUROPEAN ATOMIC ENERGY COMMUNITY - EURATOM]

SERIES NO: [ ]

TRANCHE NO: [ ]

[Brief Description and Amount of Notes]

Issue Price: [ ] per cent.

[Dealer(s)]

The date of this Pricing Supplement is [ ]

This Pricing Supplement, under which the Notes described herein (the **Notes**) are issued, is supplementary to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Offering Circular dated 12 March 2015 [as supplemented by the supplement[s] dated [date[s]]] (the **Offering Circular**) issued in relation to the euro 80,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of the European Union and the European Atomic Energy Community. The Notes will be issued on the terms of this Pricing Supplement read together with the Offering Circular. Terms defined in the Offering Circular have the same meaning in this Pricing Supplement.

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the **Conditions**) set forth in the Offering Circular dated [original date [and the supplement dated [date]]]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated [current date], save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering Circular dated [original date] and are attached hereto.]

This Pricing Supplement does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation, and no action is being taken to permit an offering of the Notes or the distribution of this Pricing Supplement in any jurisdiction where such action is required. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circulars dated [current date] and [original date].

Nothing has happened as of the date hereof or is expected to happen in relation to the Issuer or the Notes which would require the Offering Circular to be supplemented or updated.

[Except as disclosed in this document,] there has been no significant change in the overall financial position of the Issuer since the date of its last General Budget or the last General Report on the Activities of the European Union.\*

Signed:	Signed:	
Duly authorised signatory	Duly author	rised signatory
The terms of the Notes are as follows:		

<sup>\*</sup> N.B. If any such change is disclosed in the Pricing Supplement, it will require approval by the Stock Exchange(s).

1.	Issu	er:		uropean mmunity]	Union/European	Atomic	Energy
2.	(a)	Series No:	[	]			
	(b)	Tranche No:	Se		vith an existing illing the date on w		
3.	Rele	evant Currency:	[	]			
4.	Aggı	regate Principal Amount:					
	(a)	[Series:	[	]]			
	(b)	[Tranche:	[	]]			
5.	(a)	[Issue Price:		us accrued	nt. of the Aggree interest from [inse es only, if applicable	ert date] (in th	
	(b)	[Estimated Net proceeds (Required only for listed issues):	[	]]			
6.	Den	omination(s):	[	]			
7.	(a)	Issue Date:	[	]			
	(b)	Interest Commencement Date:	[	]			
8.	Matu	urity Date:	Da Da	ollowing/Mo ly Conven ly[s] [is/are	ct to adjustment in dified Following tion for which the [specify cities]]/ for nearest to [specify cities]	/Preceding] ne Relevant [The Interest	Business Business Payment
9.		rest Basis: emption/Payment Basis:	[Ze [Va [s] (fu [Re [Va [In:	IBOR/EUR ero Coupor ariable Cou pecify othe rther partic edemption	pon Amount] r] ulars specified bel at par] pon Redemption <i>i</i>	ow)	ng Rate]
11.		nge of Interest Basis or emption/Payment Basis:	int		ils of any provisio Interest Basis or		
12.	Put/0	Call Options:	[ls:	vestor Put] suer Call] urther partic	culars specified be	·low)]	
13.	Listir	ng:	[Lu	uxembourg/	specify other/Non	e]	
14.	Meth	nod of distribution:	[S <sub>y</sub>	ndicated/N	lon-syndicated]		
15.	Fixe	d Rate Note Provisions	[Ap	oplicable/N	ot Applicable]		
				not applica this paragr	able, delete the rei aph)	maining subp	aragraphs
	(a)	Interest Rate:	[ [ar	] per nnually/sem	cent. per ni-annually/quarter	annum ly] in arrear]	[payable
				payable ondition 4)	ther than annual	ly, consider	amending
	(b)	Interest Payment Date(s):	(N	ite]/[specify	vill need to be ar		

	(c)	Interest Amount(s):	[ ] per [ ] in principal amount (Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest amounts which do not correspond with the Interest Amount)
	(d)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360 or Actual/Actual (ICMA) or [specify other]]
	(e)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[ ] in each year [Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon.  N.B. This will need to be amended in the case of regular interest payment dates which are not of equal duration.  N.B. Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
	(f)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[None/Give details]
	(g)	Business Day Convention (for the purposes of the payment date convention in Condition 6(g)):	[Following Business Day, unadjusted/ specify other]
16.	Floa	ting Rate Note Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a)	Specified Duration/Interest Payment Dates:	[ ] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (b) below /, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (b) below is specified to be Not Applicable]
	(b)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/[specify other]] [Not Applicable]
	(c)	Relevant Financial Centre(s):	[ ]
	(d)	Primary Source:	[Page/Reference Banks/specify other]
	(e)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount (if not the Agent):	[ ]
	(f)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[ ] (Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)
	(g)	Page:	[ ] (In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fallback provisions appropriately)
	(h)	Benchmark:	[LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN EURIBOR, EURO-LIBOR or other benchmark]
	(i)	Reference Banks:	[specify four]
	(j)	Margin (if applicable):	[ ] per cent. per annum
	(k)	Rate Multiplier (if applicable):	[ ]
	(I)	Minimum Interest Rate (if applicable):	[ ] per cent. per annum
	(m)	Maximum Interest Rate (if applicable):	[ ] per cent. per annum
	(n)	Relevant Time (if applicable):	[ ]

	(o)	Representative Amount (if applicable):	[	]
	(p)	Day Count Fraction:	[Act	ual/365
	(5)		Actu 30/3 30E Oth	/360 er]
	(q)	Fallback provisions, rounding provisions and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in the Conditions:	l	I
17.	Zero	Coupon Note Provisions	[Ap	olicable/Not Applicable]
				ot applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs nis paragraph)
	(a)	Amortisation Yield:	[	] per cent. per annum
	(b)	Reference Price:		
			[	1
	(c)	Any other formula/basis of determining		
		amount payable:	[	1
	(d)	Day Count Fraction in relation to Amortised	[Co	nditions 5(c) and 4(d) apply/specify other]
		Face Amounts and late payment:		nsider applicable day count fraction if not U.S. ar denominated)
18.	Vari	able Coupon Amount Note Provisions	[Ap	olicable/Not Applicable]
				ot applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs iis paragraph)
	(a)	Index/Formula:	[giv	e or annex details]
	(b)	Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the interest due:	[	1
	(c)	Provisions for determining interest where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable:	[	1
	(d)	Interest Period(s)/Interest Payment Dates:	[	]
	(e)	Business Day Convention:	Cor Cor	ating Rate Convention/Following Business Day evention/Modified Following Business Day evention/Preceding Business Day evention/specify other]
	(f)	Relevant Financial Centre(s):	[	]
	(g)	Minimum Interest Rate:	[	] per cent. per annum
	(h)	Maximum Interest Rate:	[	] per cent. per annum
	(i)	Day Count Fraction:	[	]
PRC	VISIO	ONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION		
19.	Issu	er Call (Condition 5(d)):	(If n	plicable/Not Applicable] ot applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs nis paragraph)
	(a)	Optional redemption date(s):	J. (1	··
	(b)	Optional redemption amount of each Note	[	]
		and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):	[	] per Note of [ ] Denomination

	(c)	If re	edeemable in part:	
		(i)	Minimum redemption amount:	[ ]
		(i)	Maximum redemption amount:	[ ]
	(d)	Issi	uer's Option Period:	[ ] (N.B. When setting the Issuer's Option Period, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a minimum of 5 clearing system business days' notice for a call) and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)
	(e)	Ter	ms of any other Issuer's Options:	[ ]
20.	Inve	stor	Put (Condition 5(e)):	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	(a)	Opt	tional redemption date(s):	[ ]
	(b)	Not	reholders' Option Period:	[ ] (N.B. When setting the Noteholders' Option Period, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a minimum of 15 clearing system business days' notice for a put) and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)
	(c)	Ter	ms of any other Noteholders' Option:	[ ] [ ] per Note of [ ] [Denomination/specify other/see Appendix]
21.	Red	emp	tion Amount of each Note:	[ ] per Note of [ ] [Denomination/specify other/see Appendix]
22.	Insta	alme	nt Date(s) (if applicable):	[ ]
23.	Insta	alme	nt Amount(s) (if applicable):	[ ]
GEN	IERA	L PF	ROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTE	es .
24.	Forn	n of I	Notes:	
	(a)	For	m:	[Bearer Notes:
				[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Registered Notes [at the option of the holder/Issuer/upon an Exchange Event]
				[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Registered Notes on and after the Exchange Date]
				[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes/Registered Notes [at the option of the holder/Issuer/upon an Exchange Event]] [Permanent Global Certificate] [Global Certificate]
				[Registered Notes:
				Registered Global Note registered in the name of a nominee for a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg]
	(b)	Nev	w Global Note:	[Yes][No]

25.		iness Day Jurisdictions for Condition 6(g) sdictions required to be open for payment):	
26.		natured Coupons to become void upon early emption:	[Yes/No]
27.	the	ns to be attached to Notes and, if applicable, number of Interest Payment Dates between maturity of each Talon:	[No/Yes, maturing every [ ] Interest Payment Dates]
28.	Red	enomination applicable:	Redenomination [not] applicable (If Redenomination is applicable, specify the applicable Day Count Fraction and any provisions necessary to deal with floating rate interest calculation (including alternative reference rates))
29.		ails of any other additions or variations to the ditions:	[ ]
DIS	ΓRIB	JTION	
30.	(a)	Method of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated][Not Applicable/give names]
	(b)	If syndicated, names of Managers:	[Not Applicable/give names]
	(c)	Stabilisation Agent(s) (if any):	[Not Applicable/give names]
	(d)	If non-syndicated, name of relevant Dealer:	[ ]
31.	U.S.	Selling Restrictions:	[Reg. S Compliance Category 1]; [TEFRA C/TEFRA D/TEFRA not applicable]
32.	Calc	culation Agent(s) (if any):	[ ]
33.		ails of any additions or variations to the ng restrictions:	[ ]
34.	Clea	clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and arstream, Luxembourg and the relevant tification number(s):	[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]
35.	Deli	very:	Delivery [against/free of] payment
36.	Addi	itional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[ ]
37.	ISIN	:	[ ]
38.	Com	nmon Code:	[ ]
			(The common code must be obtained from the Agent and cannot be derived from the ISIN.)
39.	[WK	N	[ ]]
40.	has	aggregate principal amount of Notes issued been translated into euro at the rate of [ ], lucing a sum of (for Notes not denominated uro):	Euro [ ]
41.		nded to be held in a manner which would	[Yes][No]
	allov	v Eurosystem eligibility:	[Note that the designation "yes" simply means that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [, and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper, that is, held under the NSS,] [include this text for Registered Notes which are to be held under the NSS] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such

recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.] [include this text if "yes" selected in which case Notes in bearer form must be issued in NGN form]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper]. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]]

## **[LISTING APPLICATION**

This Pricing Supplement comprises the final terms required to list the issue of Notes described herein pursuant to the euro 80,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of [European Union (EU)/European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom)].]

## RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.
Signed on behalf of the Issuer:
By:
Duly authorised signatory

## TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement, will be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) or the Global Certificate(s) representing each Series. Either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions, together with the relevant provisions of the Pricing Supplement or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed, amended, supplemented or varied (and subject further to simplification by deletion of non-applicable provisions) will be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes, details of the relevant Series being shown on the relevant Notes or Certificates and in the applicable Pricing Supplement. References in the Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes which may be issued under the Programme and references to the "Issuer" shall, where the context so requires, be to the Issuer of such Notes only, not to both Issuers.

The Notes are issued pursuant to an amended and restated Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") dated 12 March 2015 between the European Union, the European Atomic Energy Community ("Euratom"), Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as fiscal agent (the "Fiscal Agent"), principal paying agent, transfer agent and consolidation agent (the "Consolidation Agent") and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. as paying agent (together with the Fiscal Agent and any additional or other paying agents in respect of the Notes from time to time appointed, the "Paying Agents") and as transfer agents (together with the transfer agent referred to above and any additional or other transfer agents in respect of the Notes from time to time appointed, the "Transfer Agents") and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. as registrar (the "Registrar") and with the benefit of a Deed of Covenant (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Deed of Covenant") dated 12 March 2015 executed by the Issuer. The initial Calculation Agent(s) (if any) is specified hereon. The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of the interest coupons (the "Coupons") appertaining to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the "Talons") (the "Couponholders") and the holders of the instalment receipts (the "Receipts") appertaining to the payment of principal by instalments are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

In the Conditions, "euro" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

#### 1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes", which expression includes Notes which are specified to be Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form ("Registered Notes") or in bearer form exchangeable for Registered Notes ("Exchangeable Bearer Notes") in each case in the Denomination(s) shown hereon.

All Registered Notes shall have the same Denomination. Where Exchangeable Bearer Notes are issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same Denomination as the lowest denomination of Exchangeable Bearer Notes.

Bearer Notes are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, save in the case of Notes which do not bear interest in which case references to interest (other than relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Any Bearer Note, the principal amount of which is redeemable in instalments, shall be issued with one or more Receipts attached.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates ("Certificates"), each Certificate representing a holding of one or more Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the register (the "Register") which the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement. Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as the absolute owner of such Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon, as the case may be, for the purpose of receiving payment thereof or on account thereof and for all other purposes, whether or not such Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership, theft or loss thereof or any writing thereon (or on the Certificate representing any Note(s)) made by anyone and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, "Noteholder" means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts relating to it or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), "holder" (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

All capitalised terms which are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be.

## 2. Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

### (a) Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes:

Subject as provided in Condition 2(f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the same aggregate principal amount of Registered Notes at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and upon surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured Receipts,

Coupons and Talons relating to it, at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent; provided, however, that where an Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the Record Date (as defined in Condition 6(b)) for any payment of interest or Instalment Amount, the Coupon in respect of that payment of interest or Receipt in respect of that Instalment Amount need not be surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Denomination (other than as provided for in Condition 1(b)). Bearer Notes which are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

## (b) Transfer of Registered Notes:

One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer Agent may reasonably require, at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate will be issued to the transferred in respect of the part transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred will be issued to the transferor.

## (c) Partial redemption or exercise of options in respect of Registered Notes:

In the case of a partial redemption of a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate or a partial exercise of an Issuer's or Noteholders' option in respect of a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate will be issued to the holder in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed or in respect of which the relevant option has not been exercised.

## (d) Delivery of new Certificates:

Each new Certificate to be issued upon exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes, transfer of Registered Notes or partial redemption of, or partial exercise of an Issuer's or Noteholders' option in respect of, Registered Notes will be available for delivery within three business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice or (in the case of a partial redemption or an exercise of an Issuer's option) of the giving to the Noteholders of the notice required in connection with such partial redemption or exercise of such option. Delivery of the new Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar, as the case may be, to whom delivery of such request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice shall have been made or (in the case of a partial redemption or an exercise of an Issuer's option) at the specified office of the Registrar or, at the option of the holder making such delivery as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice, be mailed at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be specified in such request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice. In this Condition 2(d), "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the Transfer Agent or the Registrar to whom such request for exchange, form of transfer or relevant Exercise Notice shall have been delivered or (in the case of a partial redemption or an exercise of an Issuer's option) in the place of the specified office of the Registrar.

## (e) Exchange free of charge:

Exchange of Notes on registration, transfer, partial redemption or exercise of an option will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require in respect) of any tax or other governmental charges which may be imposed in relation to it.

## (f) Closed periods:

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for redemption of that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days prior to any date on which Notes may be redeemed by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 5(d) or (iii) after any such Note has been drawn for redemption in whole or in part. An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for one or

more Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Certificate is simultaneously surrendered not later than the relevant Record Date.

#### 3. Status

The Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them constitute unsecured, direct, unconditional and general obligations of the Issuer and will at all times rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer for money borrowed in application of decisions of the Council of the European Union, except for indebtedness (a) incurred for all or part of the purchase price of property purchased by the Issuer and (b) secured by a mortgage, lien, pledge or other charge on such property but otherwise ranking pari passu with the Notes.

#### 4. Interest and Other Calculations

#### (a) Interest Rate and Accrual:

Each Note bears interest on its outstanding principal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Interest Rate, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date.

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the Interest Rate in the manner provided in this Condition 4 to the Relevant Date.

### (b) Business Day Convention:

If any date referred to in these Conditions is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with the Floating Rate Convention and there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which such date occurs, such date shall be the last day which is a Relevant Business Day in that month.

If any date referred to in these Conditions which is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Relevant Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (i) the Floating Rate Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Relevant Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Relevant Business Day and (B) each subsequent such date shall be the last Relevant Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (ii) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Relevant Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Relevant Business Day or (iv) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Relevant Business Day; Provided that in each case, each subsequent such date shall be subject to adjustment in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention without regard to whether any previous such date has been subject to adjustment, subject as provided in (i) above.

## (c) Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes:

If the Interest Rate is specified as being Floating Rate, the Interest Rate for each Interest Accrual Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent, at or about the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in respect of such Interest Accrual Period in accordance with the following:

- (i) if the Primary Source for the Floating Rate is a Page, subject as provided below, the Interest Rate shall be:
  - (x) the Relevant Rate (where such Relevant Rate on such Page is a composite quotation or is customarily supplied by one entity); or
  - (y) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the Relevant Rates of the persons whose Relevant Rates appear on that Page,

in each case appearing on such Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date; provided that, if, in the reasonable opinion of the Calculation Agent acting in good faith, such Page or Relevant Rate has fallen into disuse (notwithstanding the fact that such Page continues to be available on, or such Relevant Rate continues to be quoted by, the relevant information service), as evidenced by the fact that such Page or Relevant Rate has not been updated on a regular basis, such regularity being determined by the Calculation Agent, taking into account the nature and type of such Page or Relevant Rate, then the Calculation Agent shall substitute the page or the relevant rate which, in its reasonable opinion and acting in good faith, is most relevant for use in connection with the calculation of floating-rate interest relating to comparable debt obligations having interest provisions substantially similar to those of Notes;

(ii) if the Primary Source for the Floating Rate is Reference Banks or if sub-paragraph (i)(x) applies and no Relevant Rate appears on the Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date or if sub-paragraph (i)(y)above applies and fewer than two Relevant Rates appear on the Page at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date, subject as provided below, the Interest Rate shall be the arithmetic mean of the Relevant Rates which each of the Reference Banks is quoting to major banks in the Relevant Financial Centre at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date, as determined by the Calculation Agent; and

if paragraph (ii) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are so quoting Relevant Rates, subject as provided below, the Interest Rate shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) which the Calculation Agent determines to be the rates (being the nearest equivalent to the Benchmark) in respect of a Representative Amount of the Relevant Currency which five leading banks in the principal financial centre of the country of the Relevant Currency which, if the Relevant Currency is euro, can be the principal financial centre of any one of the Member States having adopted the euro (the "Principal Financial Centre") selected by the Calculation Agent are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the date on which such banks would customarily quote such rates for a period commencing on the Effective Date for a period equivalent to the Specified Duration to leading banks carrying on business in Europe, or, if the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two of such banks are so quoting, in the Principal Financial Centre, except that, if fewer than two of the banks in the Principal Financial Centre so selected by the Calculation Agent are quoting as aforesaid, the Interest Rate shall be the Interest Rate determined on the previous Interest Determination Date (after readjustment for any difference between any Margin, Rate Multiplier or Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate applicable to the preceding Interest Accrual Period and to the relevant Interest Accrual Period).

#### (d) Interest Rate on Zero Coupon Notes:

Where a Note the Interest Rate of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Interest Rate for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (as defined in Condition 5(c)).

- (e) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Interest Rates, Instalment Amounts and Redemption Amounts, Rate Multipliers and Rounding:
  - (i) If any Margin or Rate Multiplier is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Interest Rates, in the case of (x), or the Interest Rates for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with (c) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin or multiplying by such Rate Multiplier, subject always to the next paragraph.
  - (ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is specified hereon, then any Interest Rate, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.
  - (iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up) and (y) all currency amounts which fall due and payable will be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in the case of Yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest Yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency which is available as legal tender in the country or countries of such currency.

#### (f) Calculations:

The amount of interest payable in respect of any Note for any period shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Interest Rate and the outstanding principal amount of such Note by the Day Count Fraction, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula for its calculation) is specified in respect of such period, in which case the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note for such period will equal such Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Interest Period will be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods.

(g) Determination and Publication of Interest Rates, Interest Amounts, Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts:

As soon as practicable after the Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date or such other time on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any Redemption Amount or Instalment Amount, obtain any quote or make any determination or calculation, it will determine the Interest Rate and calculate the amount of interest payable (the "Interest Amounts") in respect of each Denomination of the Notes for the relevant

Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Redemption Amount or Instalment Amount, obtain such quote or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes which is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, such exchange as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case of notification to such exchange of an Interest Rate and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Relevant Business Day after such determination, in accordance with Condition 12. The Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 8, the accrued interest and the Interest Rate payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Interest Rate or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of each Interest Rate. Interest Amount, Redemption Amount and Instalment Amount, the obtaining of each quote and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agents shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

#### (h) Definitions:

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (whether or not constituting an Interest Period, the "Calculation Period"):

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified hereon:
  - (a) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (I) the number of days in such Determination Period and (II) the number of Interest Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; or
  - (b) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
    - (A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Interest Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
    - (B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Interest Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
- (ii) if "Actual/365" or "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
- (iv) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
- (v) if "Actual/360" is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (vi) if "30/360" "360/360" or "Bond Basis is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months (unless (a) the last day of the Calculation Period is the 31st day of a month but the first day of the Calculation Period is a day other than the 30th or 31st day of a month, in which case the month that includes that last day shall not be considered to be shortened to a 30-day month, or (b) the last day of the Calculation Period is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month)); and
- (vii) if "30E/360" is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months, without regard to the date

of the first day or last day of the Calculation Period unless the last day of that Calculation Period is the Maturity Date and falls on the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month).

"Determination Period" means each period from (and including) an Interest Determination Date to (but excluding) the next Interest Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not an Interest Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Interest Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Interest Determination Date falling after, such date).

"Effective Date" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination Date, the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the first day of the Interest Accrual Period to which such Interest Determination Date relates.

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on, and including, the Interest Commencement Date and ending on, but excluding, the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on, and including, an Interest Period Date and ending on, but excluding, the next succeeding Interest Period Date (unless otherwise specified hereon).

"Interest Commencement Date" means the date of issue of the Notes (the "Issue Date") or such other date as may be specified hereon.

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to an Interest Rate and Interest Accrual Period, the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or the day falling two Relevant Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the specified currency is not Sterling.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on, and including, the Interest Commencement Date and ending on, but excluding, the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on, and including, an Interest Payment Date and ending on, but excluding, the next succeeding Interest Payment Date (unless otherwise specified hereon).

"Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date (as may be adjusted in accordance with a specified Business Day Convention) unless otherwise specified hereon.

"Interest Rate" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and which is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon.

"Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified for the purpose of providing a Relevant Rate, or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service or on such other information service, in each case as may be nominated by the person or organisation providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to that Relevant Rate.

"Reference Banks" means the institutions specified as such hereon or, if none, four major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) which is most closely connected with the Benchmark.

"Relevant Business Day" means:

- in the case of euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the Relevant Financial Centre and on which the TARGET2 System is operating credit or transfer instructions in respect of such payments; and/or
- (ii) in the case of a specified currency other than euro and/or one or more specified financial centres, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre for that currency and/or each of the financial centres so specified.

"Relevant Currency" means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

"Relevant Date" means, in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon, the date on which payment in respect thereof first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relative Certificate), Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation.

"Relevant Financial Centre" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination Date, the financial centre as may be specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the financial centre with which the relevant Benchmark is most closely connected or, if none is so connected, London.

"Relevant Rate" means the Benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Relevant Currency for a period (if applicable or appropriate to the Benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration commencing on the Effective Date.

"Relevant Time" means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre specified hereon or, if none is specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the relevant currency in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre.

"Representative Amount" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination Date, the amount specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the time.

"Specified Duration" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination Date, the duration specified hereon or, if none is specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Accrual Period, ignoring any adjustment pursuant to Condition 4(b).

"TARGET2 System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross-Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System.

## (i) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks:

The Issuer will procure that there shall at all times be four Reference Banks (or such other number as may be required) with offices in the Relevant Financial Centre and one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in the Conditions applicable to the Notes and for so long as any Notes are outstanding. If any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the Issuer will appoint another Reference Bank with an office in the Relevant Financial Centre to act as such in its place. Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Interest Rate or Interest Accrual Period for any Interest Period or to calculate the Interest Amounts or comply with any other requirements, the Issuer will appoint the London office of a leading bank engaged in the London interbank market to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

### 5. Redemption, Purchase and Options

#### (a) Final Redemption:

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below or its maturity is extended pursuant to any Issuer's or Noteholder's option in accordance with Condition 5(d) or (e), each Note will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided, is its principal amount) on the Maturity Date specified on each Note or, in the case of a Note falling within Condition 5(f), its Final Instalment Amount.

#### (b) Purchases:

The Issuer may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons appertaining thereto are attached or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price.

#### (c) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes:

- (i) The Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note which does not bear interest prior to the Maturity Date, the Redemption Amount of which is not linked to an index and/or a formula, upon such Note becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 8 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note.
- (ii) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (iii) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any such Note shall be the scheduled Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually. Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.
- (iii) If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 8 is not paid when due, the Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined in sub-paragraph (ii) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the reference therein to the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were replaced by a reference to the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph will continue to be made (as well after as before judgment), until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Redemption Amount of such

Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest which may accrue in accordance with Condition 4(d).

## (d) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer, Exercise of Issuer's Options and Partial Redemption:

If so provided hereon, the Issuer may, on giving irrevocable notice to the Noteholders falling within the Issuer's Option Period, redeem, or exercise any Issuer's option in relation to, all or, if so provided, some of the Notes in the principal amount or integral multiples thereof and on the date or dates so provided. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption which may, if so specified hereon, be payable in instalments or otherwise.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed, or the Issuer's option shall be exercised, on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

If so provided hereon, the Issuer shall redeem a specified number of the Notes on the date or dates so provided. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption which may, if so specified hereon, be payable in instalments or otherwise. Notice of such redemption shall be irrevocably given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed ("Redeemed Notes") will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, and in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such date of selection being hereinafter called the "Selection Date"). In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 12 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. No exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(d) and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 at least five days prior to the Selection Date.

## (e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders and Exercise of Noteholders' Options:

If so provided hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note, redeem such Note on the date or dates so provided at its Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option or any other Noteholders' option which may be set out hereon the holder must deposit such Note (together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (in the case of Registered Notes) at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice ("Exercise Notice") in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the Noteholders' Option Period. No Note or Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer.

## (f) Redemption by Instalments (Instalment Notes):

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 5 or the relevant Instalment Date (being one of the dates so specified on the Notes) is extended pursuant to any Issuer's or Noteholders' option in accordance with Condition 5(d) or (e), each Note which provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts will be partially redeemed on each Instalment Date at the Instalment Amount specified on it, whereupon the outstanding principal amount of such Note shall be reduced by the Instalment Amount for all purposes, unless payment of the Instalment Amount is improperly withheld or refused on presentation of the Related Receipt, in which case such amount shall remain outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Instalment Amount.

## (g) Cancellation:

All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer may be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in the case of Registered Notes, by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each case, if so surrendered, will, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

## 6. Payments and Talons

#### (a) Bearer Notes:

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes will, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of Instalment Amounts other than on the due date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 6(e)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 6(e)(vi)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the currency in which such payment is due drawn on, or, at the option of the holder, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency with, a bank in the principal financial centre of that currency; Provided that, in the case of euro, the transfer may be to, or the cheque drawn on, a euro bank account or such other bank account to which euro payments may be credited or transferred.

References in those Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it and (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 4 or any amendment or supplement to it.

## (b) Registered Notes:

- (i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 6(b) shall include final Instalment Amounts but no other Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes will be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below.
- (ii) Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 6(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts other than final Instalment Amounts) on Registered Notes will be paid to the person shown on the Register (i) where in global form, at the close of the business day (being for this purpose a day on which Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are open for business) before the relevant due date, and (ii) where in definitive form, at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Registered Note will be made in the currency in which such payments are due by cheque drawn on a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of the currency concerned and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date and subject as provided in Condition 6(a) above, such payment of Interest may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of that currency (provided, in the case of euro, as aforesaid in Condition 6(a)).

## (c) Payments subject to law etc.:

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

## (d) Appointment of Agents:

The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, Transfer Agents, the Calculation Agent and the Consolidation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, Transfer Agents, the Calculation Agent and the Consolidation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent, the Calculation Agent or the Consolidation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuer will at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) one or more Calculation Agents where the Conditions so require, (v) a Consolidation Agent where the conditions so require and (vi) a Paying Agent having a specified office in a European city which, so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of such Exchange so require, shall be Luxembourg and such other agents as may be required by the rules of any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office will promptly be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12.

## (e) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons:

(i) Unless the Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes, Bearer Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) will be deducted from the Redemption Amount due for payment. Any amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the due date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 7).

- (ii) If the relative Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note which is redeemable in instalments, all Receipts relating to such Note having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (v) Where any Bearer Note which provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons and any unexchanged Talon relating to it, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.
- (vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a Note which only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be.

#### (f) Talons:

On or after the interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons which may have become void pursuant to Condition 7).

## (g) Non-Business Days:

If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment (for the purpose of this Condition 6(g), the "Following Business Day"). In this paragraph, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which:

- (i) banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in:
- (a) in the case of Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation;
- (b) each Business Day Jurisdiction specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and:
- (ii) (in the case of a payment in euro) and on which the TARGET2 System is operating; or

(in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried out in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency.

## 7. Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons (which for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within ten years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the due date thereof.

#### 8. Events of Default

The following shall each constitute an Event of Default:

(a) Non-Payment: the Issuer shall default in any payment of principal or interest in respect of any of the Notes and such default shall not be cured by payment thereof within 30 days; or

(b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer shall default in the performance of any other covenant contained in the Notes and such default shall continue for a period of 90 days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the Issuer at the office of the Fiscal Agent by any Noteholder; or

## (c) Cross-Default:

- (i) there is a declaration of default in any other loan indebtedness, exceeding the aggregate amount of EUR 50,000,000, of the Issuer as a result of the occurrence of an event of default as defined in any instrument governing or evidencing such indebtedness, or
- (ii) any such other loan indebtedness, exceeding the aggregate amount of EUR 50,000,000 is not paid at its stated maturity and such default is not cured within 30 days, or
- (iii) there is a declaration of default in the payment by the Issuer when due under any guarantee by it of loan indebtedness exceeding the aggregate amount of EUR 50.000.000.

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the holders of at least 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes may by giving written notice to the relevant Issuer at its specified office declare all the Notes to be immediately repayable (an "Acceleration Notice"), whereupon they shall become immediately due and payable together with accrued interest to the date of payment unless such Event of Default shall have been remedied prior (except in the case of (b) above) to the receipt of such notice by the relevant Issuer.

If the relevant Issuer receives notice in writing from holders of at least 50 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes to the effect that the Event of Default or Events of Default giving rise to the above mentioned Acceleration Notice is or are cured following any such Acceleration Notice and that such holders request the relevant Issuer to rescind the relevant Acceleration Notice, the relevant Issuer or Fiscal Agent shall, by notice in writing to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Fiscal Agent), rescind the relevant Acceleration Notice whereupon it shall be rescinded and shall have no further effect. Such rescission will be conclusive and binding on all Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders, but no such rescission shall affect any other or any subsequent Event of Default or any right of any Noteholder in relation thereto.

## 9. Replacement of Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

If a Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg (in the case of the Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and the Registrar (in the case of Certificates) or such other Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, as may from time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Note, Certificate, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there will be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the Issuer in respect of such Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Certificates, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

## 10. Meetings of Noteholders and Modifications

(a) General

The provisions relating to modifications and for convening meetings of Noteholders as set out in Schedule 9 to the Agency Agreement shall apply to the Notes.

For the purposes of Condition 8 and of this Condition 10, a Note will be deemed to be not "Outstanding" as set out in Schedule 9 to the Agency Agreement and where the Note is held by the Issuer, by a department or agency of the Issuer, or by a corporation, trust or other legal entity that is controlled by the Issuer or a department or agency of the Issuer and, in the case of a Note held by any such above-mentioned corporation, trust or other legal entity, the Holder of the Note does not have autonomy of decision, where:

- (i) the Holder of a Note for these purposes is the entity legally entitled to vote the Note for or against a proposal and/or proposed modification or, if different, the entity whose consent or instruction is by contract required, directly or indirectly, for the legally entitled Holder to vote the Note for or against a proposal and/or proposed modification; and
- (ii) a corporation, trust or other legal entity is controlled by the Issuer or by a department or agency of the Issuer if the Issuer or any department or agency of the Issuer has the power, directly or indirectly, through the ownership of voting securities or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise, to direct the management of or elect or appoint a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions in lieu of, or in addition to, the board of directors of that legal entity; and

(iii) the Holder of a Note has autonomy of decision if, under applicable law, rules or regulations and independent of any direct or indirect obligation the Holder may have in relation to the Issuer: (i) the Holder may not, directly or indirectly, take instruction from the Issuer on how to vote on a proposal and/or proposed modification; or (ii) the Holder, in determining how to vote on a proposal and/or proposed modification, is required to act in accordance with an objective prudential standard, in the interest of all of its stakeholders or in the Holder's own interest; or (iii) the Holder owes a fiduciary or similar duty to vote on a proposal and/or proposed modification in the interest of one or more persons other than a person whose holdings of Notes (if that person then held any Notes) would be deemed to be not Outstanding under this definition.

The following paragraphs constitute a summary of the relevant provisions of the Agency Agreement and shall be subject to the provisions set out therein as amended by the foregoing paragraphs in this Condition 10(a).

## (b) Convening a meeting of Noteholders

A meeting of Noteholders:

- (i) may be convened by the relevant Issuer or the Fiscal Agent at any time; and
- (ii) will be convened by the relevant Issuer if an event of default in relation to the Notes has occurred and is continuing and a meeting is requested in writing by the holders of not less than 10 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding.

#### (c) Quorum

- The quorum at any meeting of Noteholders convened to vote on a proposal in relation to, or a proposed modification of:
  - (A) a Reserved Matter will be one or more persons present and holding or representing at least 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes; and
  - (B) a matter other than a Reserved Matter will be one or more persons present and holding or representing at least 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes.
- (ii) where a meeting is adjourned and rescheduled owing to a lack of quorum, at any rescheduled meeting of Noteholders, one or more persons present and holding or representing:
  - (A) at least 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes in the case of a Reserved Matter modification or a proposal relating to a Reserved Matter; and
  - (B) at least 25 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes in the case of a non-Reserved Matter modification or a proposal relating to a non-Reserved Matter.

### (d) Non-Reserved Matters Modification

Save as otherwise provided in the Agency Agreement, any modification in relation to, or proposal relating to, any matter other than a Reserved Matter affecting the terms and conditions of the Notes and/or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes may only be approved, with the consent of the relevant Issuer and:

- the affirmative vote of a holder or holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding Notes represented at a duly called and quorate meeting of holders; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of a holder or holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding Notes.

## (e) Reserved Matters Modification

Except as provided by Condition 10(f) below, any modification in relation to, or proposal relating to, a Reserved Matter affecting the terms and conditions of the Notes and/or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes may only be approved, with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of a holder or holders of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes then Outstanding represented at a duly called and guorate meeting of holders; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of a holder or holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes then Outstanding.

## (f) Cross-Series Modifications and Cross-Series Proposals

In the case of a Cross-Series Modification and/or Cross-Series Proposal, any modification in relation to, or proposal relating to, a Reserved Matter, the terms and conditions of the Notes and any other series of debt

securities (as defined in the Agency Agreement but subject to the provisions of Condition 10(a)), and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes or debt securities of such other series may only be approved, with the consent of the relevant Issuer and:

- (a)(i) the affirmative vote of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding debt securities represented at separate duly called and quorate meetings of the holders of the debt securities of all the series (taken in the aggregate) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification; or
- (a)(ii) written resolutions signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding debt securities of all the series (taken in the aggregate) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification:

and

- (b)(i) the affirmative vote of more than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding debt securities represented at separate duly called and quorate meetings of the holders of each series of debt securities (taken individually) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification; or
- (b)(ii) written resolutions signed by or on behalf of the holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding debt securities of each series (taken individually) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification.

For the purposes of this Condition 10(f):

- (a) "debt security" means any bill, bond, debenture, note or other debt security issued by the relevant Issuer in one or more series with an original stated maturity of more than one year, and includes any such obligation, irrespective of its original stated maturity, that formerly constituted a component part of a debt security:
- (b) "Cross-Series Modification" means a modification involving (i) the Notes or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes, and (ii) one or more other series of debt securities or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other series of debt securities;
- (c) "Cross-Series Proposal" means a proposal or matter for consideration affecting or concerning (i) the Notes or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes, and (ii) one or more other series of debt securities or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other series of debt securities; and
- (d) "series" means a tranche of debt securities, together with any further tranche or tranches of debt securities that in relation to each other and to the original tranche of debt securities are (i) identical in all respects except for their date of issuance or first payment date, and (ii) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series,

provided that the definitions set out immediately above shall be subject to and construed in accordance with Condition 10(a).

## (g) Written Resolutions

A written resolution signed by or on behalf of holders of the requisite majority of the Notes will be valid for all purposes as if it was a resolution passed at a quorate meeting of holders duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions. A written resolution may be set out in one or more documents in like form each signed by or on behalf of one or more holders.

#### (h) Binding Effect

A resolution duly passed at a quorate meeting of holders duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement, and a written resolution duly signed by the requisite majority of holders, will be binding on all holders, whether or not the holder was present or represented at the meeting, voted for or against the resolution or signed the written resolution.

## (i) Manifest error, technical amendments

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Notes, these Conditions and the provisions of the Agency Agreement may be amended without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders:

- (i) to correct a manifest error or cure an ambiguity;
- (ii) if the modification is of a formal or technical nature or for the benefit of the Noteholders.

In addition, the parties to the Agency Agreement may agree to modify any provision thereof, but the relevant Issuer shall not agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any such modification unless it is of a formal, minor or technical nature or for the benefit of the Noteholders. The relevant Issuer will publish the details of any

modification of the Notes made pursuant to this paragraph (i) within ten days of the modification becoming legally effective and in accordance with Condition 12.

#### 11. Further Issues and Consolidation

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes (except for the first payment of interest on them and the date from which the interest starts to accrue) and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes, and references in these Conditions to "Notes" shall be construed accordingly.

The Issuer may also from time to time without the consent of the holders of the Notes, Certificates or Coupons of any Series by giving at least 30 days' notice in accordance with Condition 12, consolidate the Notes with the notes of one or more other Series issued by it provided that, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the notes of all such other Series are denominated in the same currency as such Notes (irrespective of the currency in which any notes of such other Series were originally issued) and otherwise have the same terms and conditions as such Notes.

With effect from their consolidation, the Notes and the notes of such other Series will (if listed prior to such consolidation) be listed on at least one European stock exchange on which either such Notes or the notes of such other Series were listed immediately prior to consolidation.

The Issuer shall, in dealing with the holders of such Notes following a consolidation pursuant to this Condition 11, have regard to the interests of the Noteholders and the holders of the notes of such other Series, taken together as a class, and shall treat them alike.

#### 12. Notices

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes (i) will be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing and (ii) in addition, so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that Exchange so require, will be published in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the *Luxemburger Wort* or the *Tageblatt*) or the Luxembourg's Stock Exchange's website (www.bourse.lu). Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes will be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*) and so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the *Luxemburger Wort* or the *Tageblatt*) or the Luxembourg's Stock Exchange's website (www.bourse.lu). If any such publication is not practicable, notice will be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above.

Coupon holders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition.

## 13. Currency Indemnity

Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the currency in which payment under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt is due by any Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from the Issuer shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the amount in the currency of payment under the relevant Note, Coupon or Receipt which the recipient is able to purchase with the amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do so). If the amount received or recovered is less than the amount expressed to be due to the recipient under any Note, Coupon or Receipt, the Issuer shall indemnify it against any loss sustained by it as a result. In any event, the Issuer shall indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such purchase. For the purposes of this Condition, it will be sufficient for the Noteholder or Couponholder, as the case may be, to demonstrate that it would have suffered a loss had an actual purchase been made. These indemnities constitute a separate and independent obligation from the Issuer's other obligations, shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of any indulgence granted by any Noteholder or Couponholder and shall continue in full force and effect despite any other judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due under any Note, Coupon or Receipt or any other judgment or order.

## 14. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

#### (a) Governing Law:

The Notes, the Certificates, the Receipts, the Coupons, the Talons and the Agency Agreement (and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with such agreements) are governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law.

## (b) Jurisdiction:

All disputes arising in connection with the validity, interpretation, or performance of obligations under any Note, Certificate, Receipt, coupon and/or Talon issued by the EU (including any dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with such agreements) shall be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Justice of the European Union, in line with Article 272 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (hereinafter referred to as "TFEU").

In accordance with Article 106a of the Treaty establishing the European Atomic Energy Community, as amended, (hereinafter referred to as "Euratom Treaty"), all disputes arising in connection with the validity, interpretation, or performance of obligations under any Note, Certificate, Receipt, coupon and/or Talon issued by Euratom (including any dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with such agreements) shall be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Justice of the European Union, in line with Article 272 of the TFEU.

# SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORMOR WHILE REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF A NOMINEE OR COMMON SAFEKEEPER FOR A CLEARING SYSTEM, AS THE CASE MAY BE

#### **Initial Issue of Notes**

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes having an original maturity of more than one year will initially be represented by a temporary Global Note and each Tranche of Bearer Notes having an original maturity of one year or less will initially be represented by a permanent Global Note in each case in bearer form without Coupons. Receipts or a Talon attached. The relevant Global Note will: (i) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in NGN form, as stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, be delivered on behalf of the subscribers of the relevant Notes on or prior to the original issue date (the "Issue Date") of the Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; and (ii) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form be deposited on behalf of the subscribers of the relevant Notes (a) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, with a common depositary (the "Common Depositary") for Euroclear and for Clearstream, Luxembourg or (b) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through any clearing system other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or delivered outside a clearing system, as otherwise agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer on the Issue Date. Notes issued in registered form will be represented by Certificates, one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder's entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series (subject to the provisions of the Agency Agreement). Registered Notes which are held in one or more clearing systems will be registered in the name of nominees or a common nominee for such systems or in the name of a common safekeeper for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relative Certificate(s) will be delivered to the appropriate depositary or a Common Depositary or common safekeeper as the case may be. Upon the initial deposit of a Global Note with the Common Depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, or the initial registration in the name of any nominee or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and delivery of the relative Global Certificate(s) to the appropriate common depositary or common safekeeper, Euroclear or Clearstream. Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a principal amount of Notes equal to the principal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

#### Relationship of Accountholders with Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system (an "Alternative Clearing System") as the holder of a Note represented by a Global Note or a Global Certificate must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the relevant Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Notes or Global Certificates, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such Alternative Clearing System (as the case may be). Such persons shall have no claim directly against the relevant Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by such Global Note or Global Certificate and such obligations of the relevant Issuer will be discharged by payment to the bearer of such Global Note or the holder of the underlying Registered Notes, as the case may be, in respect of each amount so paid.

## **Amendment of Conditions**

The temporary Global Notes, permanent Global Notes and Global Certificates contain provisions which apply to the Notes which they represent, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Notes set out in this document. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

(1) Exchange: Each temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date (as defined below) for interests in a permanent Global Note or, if so provided in a temporary Global Note, for definitive Bearer Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership (unless the applicable Pricing Supplement indicates that such Global Note is issued in a transaction to which TEFRA C applies, in which case no certification will be required). Each temporary Global Note which is also an Exchangeable Bearer Note will be exchangeable for Registered Notes in accordance with the Conditions in addition to any permanent Global Note or definitive Bearer Notes for which it may be exchangeable and, before its Exchange Date, will also be exchangeable in whole or in part for Registered Notes only. Each permanent Global Note is exchangeable in whole (or in the case of Partly-paid Notes only, in part) at the request and cost and expense of the holder (or, (i) if so provided in a permanent Global Note, (ii) if a permanent Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so or (iii) if an Event of Default occurs in relation to the Notes represented thereby, at the cost and expense of the relevant Issuer) for definitive Bearer Notes or (in the case of Exchangeable Bearer

Notes) a Certificate by such holder giving notice to the Fiscal Agent, in each case on or after the Exchange Date specified in the notice.

On or after any Exchange Date, the holder of a Global Note may surrender such Global Note or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for any Global Note, or the part thereof to be exchanged, the relevant Issuer will (i) in the case of a temporary Global Note exchangeable for a permanent Global Note, deliver, or procure the delivery of, a permanent Global Note in an aggregate principal amount equal to that of the whole or that part of a temporary Global Note that is being exchanged or, in the case of a subsequent exchange, endorse, or procure the endorsement of, a permanent Global Note to reflect such exchange or (ii) in the case of a Global Note exchangeable for definitive Bearer Notes or Certificates, deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated definitive Bearer Notes (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons and Receipts in respect of interest or instalment Amounts which have not already been paid on the permanent Global Note and a Talon), security printed, or (if the permanent Global Note is an Exchangeable Bearer Note) Certificates printed, in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or substantially in the form set out in Schedule 2 to the Agency Agreement. On exchange in full of each permanent Global Note, the relevant Issuer will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant definitive Bearer Notes or Certificates, as the case may be.

"Exchange Date" means, in relation to a temporary Global Note, the day falling after the expiry of 40 days after its issue date and, in relation to a permanent Global Note, a day falling not less than 60 days, or, in the case of an exchange for Registered Notes five days, or in the case of an event of default 30 days, after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Fiscal Agent is located and in the city in which the relevant clearing system is located.

The exchange of a permanent Global Note for definitive Bearer Notes at any time at the request of the holder or the Issuer should not be expressed to be applicable in the applicable Pricing Supplement if the Notes are issued with a minimum Specified Denomination such as €100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount such as €1,000 (or its equivalent in another currency). Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a temporary Global Note exchangeable for definitive Bearer Notes.

- (2) Payments: No payment falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any temporary Global Note unless exchange for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for definitive Bearer Notes or Certificates is improperly withheld or refused. Payments on any temporary Global Note (to which TEFRA D applies) before the Exchange Date will only be made against presentation of certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the Agency Agreement. All payments in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will be made against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment fails to be made in respect of the Notes, surrender of that Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent or such other Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for such purpose. A record of each payment so made will be endorsed in the appropriate schedule to each Global Note, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Notes if the Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form. If the applicable Pricing Supplement indicates that the Global Note is issued in NGN form, details of such payments shall be entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.
- (3) Notices: So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to holders of such Notes of that Series may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by the Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the holder of the Global Note except that so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, notices shall also be published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort or the Tageblatt) or the Luxembourg's Stock Exchange's website (www.bourse.lu).
- (4) *Prescription*: Claims against the relevant Issuer in respect of Notes which are represented by a permanent Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the due date thereof.
- (5) Purchase and Cancellation: Cancellation of any Note surrendered for cancellation following its purchase will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the relevant Global Note.
- (6) Default: Each Global Note and each Global Certificate provides that the holder may cause such Global Note, or a portion of it, or, in the case of a Global Certificate, one or more Registered Notes represented by such Global Certificate, to become due and repayable in the circumstances described in Condition 8 by stating in the notice to the Fiscal Agent the principal amount of such Global Note or Registered Notes which is becoming due and repayable. Following the giving of a notice of an Event of Default by or through the appropriate common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for the relevant clearing system(s), the holder of a Global Note or Registered Notes represented by a Global Certificate may elect for direct enforcement rights against the relevant Issuer under the terms of a Deed of Covenant to come into

effect in relation to the whole or a part of such Global Note or one or more Registered Notes in favour of the persons entitled to such part of such Global Note or such Registered Notes, as the case may be, as accountholders with a clearing system. Following any such acquisition of direct rights, the Global Note or, as the case may be, the Global Certificate and the corresponding entry in the Register will become void as to the specified portion or Registered Notes, as the case may be. However, no such election may be made in respect of Notes represented by a Global Certificate unless the transfer of a whole or a part of the holding of Notes represented by that Global Certificate shall have been improperly withheld or refused.

- (7) Issuer's Option: The notice given by the relevant Issuer to the Noteholders shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn and, accordingly, no drawing of Notes will be required under Condition 5(d) in the event that the relevant Issuer exercises any option relating to those Notes while all such Notes which are outstanding are represented by a Global Note. In the event that the relevant Issuer redeems only part of the Notes or that any option of the relevant Issuer is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the rights of accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed by the standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg (and will be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) or the other relevant clearing system (as the case may be).
- (8) Noteholders' Option: Any Noteholders' option may be exercised by the holder of a Global Note giving notice to the Fiscal Agent of the principal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised and presenting such Global Note for endorsement of exercise within the time limits specified in the Conditions.
- (9) Consolidation: On any consolidation of Notes with the notes of any other Series, the relevant Issuer may issue one or more replacement Global Notes or Global Certificates, as the case may be, in exchange for the Global Notes or Global Certificates representing the Notes of the Series being consolidated. Any consolidation may, in such circumstances, require a change in the relevant common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be.
- (10) Partly-paid Notes: The provisions relating to Partly-paid Notes will be contained in the relative Pricing Supplement and thereby in the Global Notes. For so long as any instalments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly-paid Notes are due, no interest in a Global Note representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a permanent Global Note or for definitive Bearer Notes or Certificates (as the case may be). In the event that any Noteholder fails to pay any instalment due on any Partly-paid Notes within the time specified, the relevant Issuer may be entitled to forfeit such Notes and shall have no further obligation to their holder in respect of them.

## **USE OF PROCEEDS**

The net proceeds of issues of Notes is intended to be used by the relevant Issuer for its general funding purposes including, in the case of the EU, the financial assistance loans or credit lines to EU Member States, financial assistance loans to certain third countries (please see "Borrowing Activities and Guarantees" below) and, in the case of Euratom, the funding of loans to EU Member States to finance investments in the nuclear fuel cycle and to certain Eastern European countries to improve the safety levels of nuclear installations or their dismantling in such countries.

#### **EUROPEAN UNION**

#### History

The European Economic Community was established by the Treaty of Rome (the "EEC Treaty") signed on 25 March 1957 on behalf of Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and The Netherlands. The EEC Treaty came into force on 1 January 1958 and is of unlimited duration. By accession treaties, Denmark, Ireland and the United Kingdom became Member States on 1 January 1973, Greece on 1 January 1981, Spain and Portugal on 1 January 1986, Austria, Finland and Sweden on 1 January 1995 and Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, Cyprus and Malta on 1 May 2004. On 1 January 2007, Romania and Bulgaria joined in the fifth enlargement followed by Croatia on 1 July 2013, raising the number of Member States to 28 and the population of the Union to around 500 million inhabitants. The EEC Treaty has been modified and complemented by the Single European Act, the Treaties of Maastricht, Amsterdam and Nice and the various Accession Treaties. Pursuant to the Treaty on European Union, which came into effect on 1 November 1993, the European Economic Community was renamed the European Community and the EEC Treaty was accordingly renamed the EC Treaty. Pursuant to the Lisbon Treaty, which came into effect on 1 December 2009, the European Union (the "EU") replaced and succeeded the European Community and the EC Treaty was renamed the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (the "TFEU").

#### **Candidate countries**

Candidate countries for accession are Turkey, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro, Iceland, Serbia and Albania (situation as of December 2014). Potential candidate countries are Bosnia and Herzegovina and Kosovo<sup>1</sup>.

#### **Legal Status and Jurisdiction**

The EU has independent legal personality and possesses, in each of the Member States, the most extensive legal capacity accorded to legal persons constituted in that State.

In accordance with the Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Union, the EU is endowed, in each of the Member States, with the privileges and exemptions essential for fulfilling its obligations. Accordingly, its assets and income are exempt from any direct taxation and it is allowed to hold and maintain bank accounts in any currency of its choice. Claims on the assets of the EU are subject to the authorisation of the Court of Justice of the European Union.

## **Purpose and Policies**

The EU is one of the supranational entities that were established in order to bring about the political and economic integration of Europe after World War II. The other entities are the European Atomic Energy Community ("Euratom") and the former European Coal and Steel Community, now in liquidation since the expiry in 2002 of the Treaty that had established it. The EEC Treaty also created the legally autonomous European Investment Bank ("EIB") to help finance projects contributing to the development of a common market.

The EU's aim is to promote peace, its values and the well-being of its peoples. The EU establishes an internal market and works for the sustainable development of Europe based on balanced economic growth and price stability, a highly competitive social market economy, aiming at full employment and social progress, and a high level of protection and improvement of the quality of the environment. It promotes scientific and technological advance. The EU has exclusive competence in the following areas:

- · customs union;
- the establishing of the competition rules necessary for the functioning of the internal market;
- monetary policy for the Member States whose currency is the euro;
- the conservation of marine biological resources under the common fisheries policy;
- common commercial policy;
- the conclusion of certain international agreements.

In accordance with Articles 4-6 of the TFEU, in some other areas the EU shares competence with the Member States (e.g. internal market, some aspects of social policy, economic, social and territorial cohesion, agriculture and fisheries, environment, consumer protection, transport, trans-European networks, energy, area of freedom,

<sup>1</sup> This designation is without prejudice to positions on status, and is in line with UNSCR 1244/99 and the ICJ Opinion on the Kosovo declaration of independence.

security and justice; certain common safety concerns in public health matters) or may carry out actions to support, coordinate or supplement the actions of the Member States (e.g. protection and improvement of human health, industry, culture, tourism, education, vocational training, youth and sport, civil protection, administrative cooperation).

The Member States provide the EU with the financial resources to fulfil its responsibilities in the form of budget revenues and the authority to borrow for certain purposes. The EU law (the product of joint efforts of national authorities and EU institutions) is, to a varying extent, legally binding on Member States and takes precedence over any conflicting national legislation.

The EU is empowered to enter into agreements with national and international entities. The EU has established diplomatic relations with the 192 countries belonging to the United Nations. The EU has entered into a variety of bilateral and multilateral commercial and technical agreements with individual countries and international organisations.

#### **Policies**

## Monetary Policy

The Treaty on European Union established the European Monetary Union (EMU) as a formal objective and set out a number of economic convergence criteria for Member States participating in EMU concerning the inflation rate, public finances (relating to deficits and debt), exchange rate stability and long-term interest rates.

On 1 June 1998, the European Central Bank (the "ECB") was created as the core of the European System of Central Banks and granted full powers in respect of monetary policy from the start of the third stage of EMU, replacing the European Monetary Institute.

On 1 January 1999, the euro was adopted as the single currency in Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Ireland, Luxembourg, The Netherlands, Portugal and Spain. Greece (2001), Slovenia (2007), Cyprus (2008), Malta (2008), Slovakia (2009), Estonia (2011), Latvia (2014) and Lithuania (2015) have since adopted the single currency. The United Kingdom and Denmark decided not to become participating Member States. Sweden by referendum decided to remain outside of the euro area.

The Exchange Rate Mechanism II ("ERM-II") was created on 1 June 1999 as a successor to the ERM for Member States remaining outside the euro. The principles of the system were agreed at the Amsterdam European Council in June 1997 and notably provided for bilateral links between the euro and each currency participating in ERM-II. The standard fluctuation band amounts to +/- 15 per cent. around the central rate, while narrower bands may be agreed on a case-by-case basis. Membership of the mechanism is voluntary. Denmark has participated since 1 January 1999, with the Danish Krone being subject to a narrow band of +/- 2.25 per cent. Sweden and the United Kingdom do not participate in ERM II.

## Commercial Policy

EU common commercial policy is decided in accordance with Article 207 of the TFEU. The European Commission (the "Commission") negotiates on behalf of the Member States, in consultation with a special committee appointed by the Council. All 27 Member States are individually members of the World Trade Organisation (the "WTO"), but the EU negotiates and acts within the WTO as a single body, as the Commission negotiates on behalf of the Member States while coordinating with them through the Trade Policy Committee and following guidelines set down in the Council of Ministers. The WTO is the core focus for EU common commercial policy.

The EU has also entered into a number of bilateral agreements which have important trade elements, for example: the Cotonou Agreement (which provides preferential market access for products originating in African, Caribbean and Pacific countries), and cooperation agreements with Mediterranean countries, South Africa, Mexico and Chile. The Agreement creating the European Economic Area, which entered into force on 1 January 1994, allows members of the European Free Trade Association (Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein) to participate in the common market without joining the EU. Switzerland is not part of the EEA.

## Agricultural Policy

Common agricultural policy aims to increase agricultural productivity, to ensure a fair standard of living for the agricultural community and to stabilize markets. Common organisation of agricultural markets may include, in particular, regulation of prices, aids for the production and marketing of the various products, storage and carryover arrangements and common machinery for stabilizing imports or exports.

## Social and Regional Policies

The EU regional policy is based on financial solidarity with Member States' contributions to the EU budget going to the less prosperous regions and social groups. For the 2014–2020 period, these transfers account for about EUR 367 billion:

- EUR 292 billion will be spent by the Structural Funds (European Social Fund, Youth Employment Initiative, Fund for European Aid to the Most Deprived and European Regional Development Fund);
- EUR 75 billion will be spent by the Cohesion Fund.

The Structural Funds concentrate on clearly defined priorities in order to:

- "promote harmonious development" and aim particularly to "narrow the gap between the development levels of the various regions";
- revitalise all areas facing structural difficulties that are often the source of high unemployment;
- promote the modernisation of training systems and the creation of employment in the Member States.

The Structural Funds finance multi-annual programmes which constitute development strategies drawn up in a partnership associating the regions, the Member States and the Commission taking into account guidelines laid down by the latter which apply throughout the Union.

The European Employment Strategy is designed as the main tool to give direction to and ensure co-ordination of the employment policy priorities to which Member States should subscribe at EU level. The European Social Fund links funding with policies to boost employment and strengthen economic and social cohesion in the European Employment Strategy.

The Cohesion Fund is aimed at Member States whose Gross National Income per inhabitant is less than 90 per cent. of the EU average. It serves to reduce their economic and social shortfall, as well as to stabilise their economy. The Cohesion Fund finances activities in the areas of trans-European transport networks and environment.

#### Other Policies

The Treaty of Lisbon improved the EU's ability to act in several policy areas, including external policy, security and defence policy.

#### **Finances and Budget**

The EU Budget covers all EU and Euratom expenditure.

The budget is the instrument which, for each financial year, forecasts and authorises all revenue and expenditure considered necessary for the EU and Euratom. No revenue may be collected and no expenditure effected unless booked to a line in the budget. No expenditure may be committed or authorised in excess of the authorised appropriations. An appropriation may not be entered in the budget if not considered necessary for an item of expenditure. Revenues which are the property of the EU must be entered in the budget.

The appropriations entered in the budget are authorised for one financial year which runs from 1 January to 31 December. Budget revenue and payment appropriations must be in balance. The budget is drawn up and implemented in euros and the accounts are presented also in euros. Total revenue must cover total payment appropriations and all revenue and expenditure are entered in full without any adjustment against each other.

Because the EU budget is always balanced the revenue covers the entire expenditure. The expenditure is mainly financed by Own Resources, which consist of custom duties, sugar levies and payments based on each Member States' value-added tax (VAT) receipts and on Gross National Income (GNI). Once the budget is approved, the Member States are automatically required to make the corresponding Own Resources available. Only a very minor part of the total financing is covered by other revenue (such as EU taxes on salaries and pensions, bank interest etc.).

Appropriations are earmarked for specific purposes by title and chapters subdivided into articles and items. According to the principle of specification each appropriation must have a given purpose and be assigned to a specific objective, even though the institutions have some degree of management flexibility for transfers of appropriations. Proposals of transfers must be authorised by the budgetary authority.

If the budget is not approved by the beginning of the fiscal year, monthly expenditures are limited to one-twelfth of the previous budget's annual appropriations. Borrowed funds cannot finance budget expenditures but can only be used to finance off-budget loans.

The EU total budget for 2015 amounts to EUR 141,2 billion in payment appropriations.

## **Borrowing Activities and Guarantees**

The EU is empowered by the TFEU to adopt borrowing and guarantee programmes that mobilise the financial resources necessary to fulfil its mandate.

Under Council regulation (EU) No 407/2010 of 11 May 2010 (as may be amended from time to time) the EU financial assistance (in the form of a loan or a credit line) may be granted to a Member State which is

experiencing, or is seriously threatened with a severe economic or financial disturbance. As of December 2014, Ireland and Portugal have received financial assistance under the European Financial Stabilisation Mechanism.

Under Council regulation (EU) No 332/2002 of 18 February 2002 (as may be amended from time to time), the EU may assist those Member States not having adopted the euro which are experiencing, or are seriously threatened with, difficulties in their balance of payments or capital movements. As of December 2014, Hungary, Latvia and Romania have requested and received medium-term financial assistance under this instrument.

On the basis of decisions of the Council or of the European Parliament and of the Council providing macro-financial assistance, the EU may assist countries that are not members of the EU with grants or loans.

In addition, the EU provides guarantees for financing granted by the EIB to projects in third countries.

As of November 2014, the outstanding EU loans amounted to EUR 56.9 billion. EU's debt service in 2015 is expected to be EUR 7.8 billion.

The EU debt service benefits from multiple layers of support. In principle, the EU pays its own debt with debt service payments received from the loan beneficiaries. In case of non-payment by the latter, the EU budget guarantees compliance with the EU's legal obligations to the lenders. If needed, the Commission can draw additional resources from the Member States in order to timely honour EU financial obligations.

In addition, loans provided under the macro-financial assistance programmes are covered by the EU Guarantee Fund for external actions which also covers financing granted issued by the EIB under the EU external guarantee and the Euratom loans to projects executed in third countries. At the end of November 2014, this Fund amounted to EUR 1.97 billion.

To date, the EU debt has been serviced through borrower repayments. The Commission has also sometimes made available limited cash resources for short periods to service the debt when repayments from borrowers were not received in time.

#### **EUROPEAN ATOMIC ENERGY COMMUNITY (EURATOM)**

#### History

Euratom was established by the Treaty establishing the European Atomic Energy Community (the "Euratom Treaty") signed on 25 March 1957 on behalf of Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and The Netherlands. The Euratom Treaty came into force on 1 January 1958 and is of unlimited duration. By accession treaties, Denmark, Ireland and the United Kingdom became members of Euratom on 1 January 1973; Greece on 1 January 1981; Spain and Portugal on 1 January 1986; Austria, Finland and Sweden on 1 January 1995; Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, Cyprus and Malta on 1 May 2004, Romania and Bulgaria on 1 January 2007 and Croatia on 1 July 2013. The Euratom Treaty has been modified and complemented by the Single European Act, the Treaties of Maastricht, Amsterdam, Nice, Lisbon and the various Accession Treaties.

## **Legal Status and Jurisdiction**

Euratom is a supranational entity whose Member States and governing bodies are the same as those of the EU. It is a legal entity, separate from EU, with its own borrowing powers. Euratom may enter into contracts by concluding agreements with third countries, international organisations or third-country nationals and, in particular, may acquire and transfer property and may sue and be sued in its own name. Furthermore, in accordance with the Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Union, within the Member States, Euratom is endowed with the privileges and exemptions essential for fulfilling its obligations. Accordingly, its assets and income in Member States are exempt from any direct taxation and any claims or administrative or legal measures of constraint on its assets and property are subject to the authorisation of the Court of Justice of the European Union.

#### **Purpose**

Under the Euratom Treaty, the express purpose of Euratom is to create the conditions necessary for the establishment and growth of peaceful nuclear industries within the Member States. The Treaty provides that Euratom is to carry out this task by:

- promoting research and ensuring the dissemination of technical information;
- establishing uniform safety standards to protect the health of workers and of the general public and ensuring that they are applied;
- facilitating investment and ensuring the establishment of the basic installations necessary for the development of nuclear energy within the Member States;
- ensuring that all users in the Member States receive a regular and equitable supply of ores and nuclear fuels:
- making certain, by appropriate supervision, that nuclear materials are not diverted to purposes other than those for which they are intended;
- exercising the right of ownership conferred upon it with respect to special fissionable materials;
- ensuring wide commercial outlets and access to the best technical facilities by the creation of a common
  market in specialised materials and equipment, by the free movement of capital for investment in the field of
  nuclear energy and by freedom of employment for specialists within the Member States; and
- establishing with third countries and international organisations such relations as will foster progress in the peaceful uses of nuclear energy.

#### **Financial Activities**

Council Decision 77/270/Euratom of 29 March 1977 authorised the Commission to contract borrowings on behalf of Euratom in order to contribute to the financing, within Member States, of investment projects relating to the industrial production of electricity in nuclear power stations and of industrial installations involved in various stages of the nuclear fuel cycle. The loans granted by Euratom are intended to supplement loans contracted from other parties and are limited, in principle, to 20 per cent. of the total cost of the project. The granting of first-class security is required.

By Council Decision 94/179/Euratom of 21 March 1994, Euratom's financing purpose was extended to the financing of projects in certain third countries of Central and Eastern Europe. In order to be eligible, the projects should:

- improve the level of safety and efficiency of nuclear power stations and installations in the nuclear fuel cycle which are in service or under construction; or
- relate to the decommissioning of installations for which a safety upgrade to a level acceptable to Western European standards cannot be justified for either technical or economic reasons and such installations, if simply abandoned, would pose a safety hazard. Financing granted in respect of these projects may relate to investment made both during the period between shut-down of the installation and the start of decommissioning and to the decommissioning measures themselves. However, the financing of decommissioning measures is considered only in cases where no provision to finance such measures has been made during the operating life of the installation.

Decision 94/179/Euratom does not provide for financing of new nuclear power plants, new installations in the nuclear fuel cycle or any military installations. Under this Decision, loans may not exceed 50 per cent. of the total cost of the project. Financing may only be granted to projects which have received the approval of the competent national authorities and, in particular, the relevant safety authorities. The guarantee of the state where the project is situated is required.

The total amount of debt outstanding for Euratom as of 30 November 2014 was EUR 348.81 million. Debt service payments are expected to amount to EUR 48.3 million in 2015.

#### **PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION**

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in an Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement dated 12 March 2015 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Distribution Agreement") between the Issuers and the Arranger, the Notes may be sold by the Issuers to the Dealers. Such Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by each Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of the relevant Issuer. The Distribution Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches which are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

Any commission agreed between the relevant Issuer and each relevant Dealer in respect of Notes subscribed or procured for subscription by it will be stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The Issuers have agreed to reimburse the Arranger for its expenses incurred in connection with the Programme.

Each Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of any Notes. The Distribution Agreement may be terminated by each Issuer, or by the Arranger, at any time on giving not less than ten days' written notice.

#### **United States**

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and Treasury regulations thereunder.

Until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Series of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

Each issuance of Variable Coupon Amount Notes shall be subject to such additional U.S. selling restrictions as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree as a term of the issuance and purchase of such Notes, which additional selling restrictions shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

#### **United Kingdom**

Each Dealer will be required to represent and agree that it will comply with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

### Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No.25 of 1948, as amended; the "FIEA") and each Dealer will be required to represent and agree that it will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as amended)), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

## General

Each Dealer will be required to agree that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes this Offering Circular and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and neither the Issuers nor any of the other Dealers shall have any responsibility therefor.

None of the Issuers and the Dealers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer will be required to comply with such other restrictions as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer shall agree and as shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

## **GENERAL INFORMATION**

- Copies of the EU Treaty, the TFEU and the Euratom Treaty with amendments thereto as well as copies of the most recent General Budget of the European Union will be available at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. In addition, copies of the most recently available General Report on the Activities of the European Union (including Euratom) may be obtained at such offices.
- 2. Each of the EU and Euratom is empowered to make the borrowings proposed under the Programme pursuant to the provisions of the TFEU or the Euratom Treaty, as the case may be. Each issue of Notes under the Programme will be separately authorised by the European Commission. In all matters relating to the Programme and the Notes issued thereunder, each Issuer will be represented by the European Commission.
- 3. Application has been made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
- 4. Each Bearer Note with an original maturity of more than one year to which the relevant Pricing Supplement indicates that TEFRA D applies, and each Receipt, Coupon and Talon pertaining to it will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986."
- 5. Neither of the Issuers is or has been involved in any legal or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings which are pending or threatened of which either of the Issuers are aware) which may have or have had in the 12 months preceding the date of this document a significant effect on the financial position of either of the Issuers.
- 6. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The appropriate Common Code and ISIN for each Tranche of Notes allocated by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system the appropriate information will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

## EUROPEAN UNION/EURATOM EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directorate General for Economic and Financial Affairs
Directorate L Finance, coordination with EIB Group, EBRD and IFIs
Unit L4 "Lending, borrowing, accounting and Back Office"
L-2920 Luxembourg

#### ARRANGER

## **Goldman Sachs International**

Peterborough Court 133 Fleet Street London EC4A 2BB

## FISCAL AGENT, PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT, CALCULATION AGENT, CONSOLIDATION AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

## Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB

## REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

## Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2 Boulevard Konrad Adenauer L-1115 Luxembourg

## **LUXEMBOURG LISTING AGENT**

## Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2 Boulevard Konrad Adenauer L-1115 Luxembourg

## LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuers

Legal Officer of the European Commission L-2920 Luxembourg To the Dealers in respect of English law

Allen & Overy LLP One Bishops Square

London E1 6AD